



Constitution and By-Laws

Updated Feb 2026

Constitution of the Fort St. John Minor Hockey Association

1) Name

- a) The name of the Society is FORT ST. JOHN MINOR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION

2) Purpose

- a) The purposes of the Society are:

- i) Fort St. John Minor Hockey Association provides youth with the opportunity to participate in both recreational and competitive hockey to develop emotionally, physically, socially, and technically.
- ii) Fort St. John Minor Hockey strives to create a positive environment that is safe, fun, and respectful.
- iii) Fort St. John Minor Hockey Association supports Hockey Canada's Mission Statement to "lead, develop and promote positive hockey experiences."

Bylaws of the Fort St. John Minor Hockey Association (the “Society”)

1) Definitions and Interpretation

- a) Definitions in these Bylaws.
 - (a) “Act” means the *Societies Act* of British Columbia as amended from time to time.
 - (b) “Board” means the Directors of the Society.
 - (c) “Bylaws” means these Bylaws as altered from time to time.
 - (d) “Season” means the time frame when hockey is played within Fort St. John Minor Hockey.
 - (1) For our purposes, the season runs from April 1 of the current year to March 31 of the following year.
- b) “Director of Hockey” means the employee of the Society who acts as the secretary of the Society.
- c) “Treasurer” means the employee of the Society who acts as the treasurer of the Society.
- d) “Registrar: means the employee of the Society who acts as the registrar of the Society.

2) Definitions in Act apply.

- a) The Definitions in the Act apply to these Bylaws.
 - (a) Conflict with Act or regulations
 - (b) If there is a conflict between these Bylaws and the Act or the regulations under the Act, the Act, or the regulations, as the case may be, prevail.

3) Members

- a) Application for membership.
 - (a) A person may apply to the Board for membership in the Society, and the person becomes a member on the Board’s acceptance of the application
 - (b) Upon registration of a player in the Society, the parents and/or guardians of that player automatically become members of the Society.

4) Duties of members

- a) Every member must uphold the Constitution of the Society and must comply with these Bylaws.
- b) Amount of membership dues for those members who are not parents and or guardians of a player.
 - (a) The amount of the annual membership dues/season shall be \$5.00 which must be paid 21 days prior to any Annual General Meeting of the Society.

5) Members not in good standing

- (a) A member is not in good standing who has failed to pay their current annual membership fee or any other subscription or debt due and owing to the Society and will remain “not in good standing” so long as the debt remains unpaid.
- (b) A member may also lose their good standing with written notification of the Board if they are suspended by either the governing body of Hockey Canada, BC Hockey, or Peace River District Minor Hockey Association.
- (c) A voting member who is not in good standing may not vote at a general meeting, and is deemed not to be a voting member for the purposes of consenting to a resolution of voting members.

6) General Meetings of Members

- a) Time and place of general meeting.
 - (a) A general meeting must be held at the time and place the Board determines prior to end of season.

7) Notice of special business.

- a) A notice of general meeting must state the nature of any business, other than ordinary business, to be transacted at the meeting in sufficient detail to permit a member receiving the notice to form a reasoned judgement concerning that business.

- 8) Chair of general meeting
 - a) The following individual is entitled to preside as the chair of a general meeting:
 - (a) the President of the Society, if the President is unable to preside as the chair then:
 - (b) the vice-presidents will preside as chair or
 - (c) if both the president and vice presidents are unable to preside as the chair, one of the Directors at the meeting will chair the meeting.
- 9) Quorum required.
 - a) Business, other than the election of the chair of the meeting and the adjournment or termination of the meeting, must not be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum of voting members is present.
- 10) Quorum for general meetings
 - a) The quorum for a general meeting shall be the majority of the Board members plus an equal number of ordinary voting members.
- 11) Lack of quorum at commencement of meeting.
 - a) If, within 30 minutes from the time set for holding a general meeting, a quorum of voting members is not present, in the case of a meeting convened on the requisition of members, the meeting is terminated, and in any other case, the meeting stands adjourned to the same day in the next week, at the same time and place, and if, at the continuation of the adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the time set for holding the continuation of the adjourned meeting, the voting members who are present constitute a quorum for that meeting.
- 12) If quorum ceases to be present.
 - a) If, at any time during a general meeting, there ceases to be a quorum of voting members present, business then in progress must be suspended until there is a quorum present or until the meeting is adjourned or terminated.
- 13) Adjournments by chair.
 - a) The chair of a general meeting may, or, if so, directed by the voting members at the meeting, must, adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business may be transacted at the continuation of the adjourned meeting other than business left unfinished at the adjourned meeting.
- 14) Notice of continuation of adjourned general meeting.
 - a) It is not necessary to give notice of a continuation of an adjourned general meeting or of the business to be transacted at the continuation of an adjourned general meeting except that, when a general meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the continuation of the adjourned meeting must be given.
- 15) Order of business at general meeting.
 - a) The order of business at a general meeting is as follows:
 - (a) elect an individual to chair the meeting, if necessary
 - (b) determine that there is a quorum.
 - (c) approve the agenda.
 - (d) approve the minutes from the last general meeting.
 - (e) deal with unfinished business from the last general meeting
 - (f) if the meeting is an annual general meeting
 - (1) receive the directors' report and the financial statements of the Society for the previous financial year, and the auditor's report, if any, on those statements
 - (2) receive any other reports of directors' activities and decisions since the previous annual general meeting.
 - (g) elect or appoint directors.

- (h) deal with new business, including any matters about which notice has been given to the members in the notice of the meeting
- (i) terminate the meeting.

16) Methods of voting

- a) At a general meeting, voting must be by a show of hands, an oral vote or another method that adequately discloses the intention of the voting members, except the election of directors which shall be by a secret ballot.

17) Announcement of result

- a) The chair of a general meeting must announce the outcome of each vote and that outcome must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
- b) Voting by proxy is not permitted.

18) Matters decided at general meeting by ordinary resolution.

- a) A matter to be decided at a general meeting must be decided by ordinary resolution unless the matter is required by the Act or these Bylaws to be decided by special resolution or by another resolution having a higher voting threshold than the threshold for an ordinary resolution.

19) Directors

- a) Number of directors on Board.
 - (a) The Society must have no fewer than 3 and no more than 13 directors.

20) Election or appointment of directors

- a) At each annual general meeting, the voting members entitled to vote for the election or appointment of directors must elect or appoint the Board.
- b) Each member in good standing shall have the privilege of nominating a representative for each elected office of the Society.
- c) Nominations may come from the floor only where the nominee is in attendance, or his/her written consent is presented.

21) Directors may fill casual vacancy on Board.

- a) The Board may, at any time, appoint a member as a director to fill a vacancy that arises on the Board if a Board member resigns or is incapacitated as a director during the director's term of office.

22) Term of appointment of director filling casual vacancy

- a) A director appointed by the Board to fill a vacancy ceases to be a director at the end of the unexpired portion of the term of office of the individual whose departure from office created the vacancy.

23) Director's Meetings

- a) Calling director's meeting.
 - (a) A director's meeting may be called by the president or by any two other directors.
- b) Notice of director's meeting.
 - (a) At least 2 days' notice of a director's meeting must be given unless all the directors agree to a shorter notice period.

24) Proceeding valid despite omission to give notice.

- a) The accidental omission to give notice of a director's meeting to a director, or the non-receipt of a notice by a director, does not invalidate proceedings at the meeting.

25) Conduct of director's meetings

- a) The quorum for the transaction of business at a director's meeting is a majority of the directors.

26) Board Positions

- a) Election or appointment to Board positions.
 - (a) Directors are elected or appointed to the following Board positions:
 - (1) President
 - (2) vice-president of hockey operations
 - (3) vice-president of hockey personnel
 - (4) competitive director one
 - (5) competitive director two
 - (6) senior recreation director
 - (7) junior recreation director
 - (8) risk management director

27) Employee positions of the membership.

- a) Treasurer
- b) Director of Hockey (secretary)
- c) Registrar

28) Term of office

- a) The term of office for directors, except for President will be a 2-year term.
 - (a) On even years, the following positions are up for election:
 - (1) President
 - (2) Vice-president of hockey operations
 - (3) Competitive Director 1
 - (4) U7 Director
 - (5) Risk Management Director
 - (b) On odd years, the following positions are up for election:
 - (1) President
 - (2) Vice-president of Hockey Personnel
 - (3) Competitive Director 2
 - (4) NERHL Recreation Director
 - (5) U9 Director

29) Duties and Responsibilities of the Board

- a) The Board shall govern the affairs of the Society in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution, Bylaws, Regulations, Playing Rules, and Policies and any other applicable provincial or federal legislation and/or regulation.
- b) In addition to any other powers which are conferred upon the Board by law or these Bylaws, the Board shall have the power to:
 - (a) Establish terms of reference and/or operating procedures for Members, the Board, task groups, work groups and/or program committees, advisory groups and delivery groups.
 - (b) Adopt, review and amend Policies; make proposals for; new Bylaws and Regulations or to amend, or to repeal existing Bylaws, and Regulations.
 - (c) settle all questions not provided for in these Bylaws, Regulations Policies or Playing Rules
 - (d) Overrule any decision, of any Member, that is inconsistent with any decision by the Board or the Bylaws, Regulations, Policies and Playing Rules, including any decision by a Member which makes a Society or Hockey Canada ruling less restrictive.
 - (e) Appoint and dismiss the chairs of the Appeal Committee.
 - (f) Set direction for championship competitions of the Society and for exhibition and all-star games for Hockey Leagues and District Hockey Leagues.

30) Role of President.

a) The president is the chair of the Board and is responsible for supervising the other directors in the execution of their duties.

31) Role of Vice-presidents.

a) The vice-presidents are the vice-chairs of the Board and are responsible for performing the duties of the president if the president is unable to act.

32) Role of Director of Hockey (secretary)

(a) The director of hockey shall act as secretary of the Society and shall not have voting privileges. The director of hockey is responsible for:

- (1) issuing notices of general meetings and director's meetings
- (2) taking minutes of general meetings and director's meetings
- (3) keeping the records of the Society in accordance with the Act
- (4) conducting the correspondence of the Board
- (5) filing the annual report of the Society and making other filings with the registrar under the Act
- (6) Updating, amending, and posting the Policy of the Society as per the direction of the Board.

33) Role of treasurer.

- (a) The treasurer is responsible for doing, or making the necessary arrangements for the following:
- (b) receiving and banking monies collected from the members or other sources.
- (c) keeping accounting records in respect of the Society's financial transactions
- (d) preparing the Society's financial statements
- (e) making the Society's filings respecting taxes, if applicable

34) Role of the Registrar

- (a) Register and roster all members with Hockey Canada
- (b) Collect all registration fees and hand over to Treasurer.
- (c) Ensure all volunteers have completed courses required for their volunteer roles as per BC Hockey and Hockey Canada.

35) Role of other directors

a) The role of the Competitive Director 1, Competitive Director 2, NERHL Recreation Director, U7 Director, U9 Director, Risk Management Director are as set out in the Society's policy.

Remuneration of Directors and Signing Authority

36) Signing authority

- a) A contract or other record requiring a signature by the Society must be signed on behalf of the Society by any two of the following:
- b) President, one other elected Board member and the Treasurer.

37) Discipline Conduct Committee

- a) The conduct committee shall consist of the vice-president of hockey personnel and any two directors.
- b) The president shall not serve on the conduct committee.
- c) The Conduct Committee may exonerate, censure, suspend, expel, or ask for the resignation of the subject of the complaint.
- d) Any member being disciplined or expelled must be given notice of the proposed expulsion, and a reasonable opportunity to make representations to society respecting the proposed discipline.
- e) The subject of the complaint shall receive written notice regarding the decision from the Vice President or any one of the two directors who serve on the conduct committee

38) Appeals Procedure.

- a) *The appeals committee shall be independent of the board of directors of the association and shall consist of at least 3 members or persons who are to be appointed by the directors before the start of the current season.*
- b) *Any appeal must be in writing outlining all particulars pertaining to the case, must indicate the specific purpose of the appeal and be accompanied with \$250.00 and delivered to the association Director of Hockey.*
- c) *Appeal shall be dealt with by the appeals committee within ten days.*